# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

HUMBERTO	DELGADO,	JR.,	:
	Appella	nt,	:
vs.			:
STATE OF	FLORIDA,		:
	Appelle	e.	:
			:

ż

Case No. SC12-0579

### APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

#### INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

STEVEN L. BOLOTIN Assistant Public Defender FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0236365

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (863) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

# TOPICAL

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant, HUMBERTO DELGADO, JR., was charged in Hillsborough County with first degree murder in the August 19, 2009 shooting death of Tampa police officer Michael Roberts. Delgado was also charged with aggravated assault on a law enforcement officer (Paul Mumford), carrying a concealed firearm, and depriving Corporal Roberts of means of communication (his radio) (1/26-29). The case proceeded to trial in November 2011 before Judge Emmett Battles and a jury. Delgado was receiving psychotropic medications throughout the trial (30/1825; 38/2956; 39/3102), as he had been during the two year period from immediately after his arrest until the time of the trial (43/3595-97, 3677; 45/3847-48, 3862-63, 3868-69). Defense counsel, in addition to contending that the evidence failed to prove premeditation or felony murder, relied on a defense of insanity(4/793), supported by the expert testimony of Dr. Michael Maher (38/3017). The state, in rebuttal, introduced the expert testimony of Drs. Barbara Stein, Wade Myers, and Donald Taylor, all of whom found that Delgado had a preexisting history of psychiatric hospitalizations and that he suffers from a serious mental illness (the overlapping diagnoses of bipolar disorder with psychotic features or schizoaffective disorder with psychotic features), but was not legally insane under the M'Naghten standard at the time of the shooting (39/3121-22, 3166-67; 40/3204-07, 3263-64, 3268, 3270).

The verdict form, on Count I, gave the jury the options of finding Delgado (1) guilty of first degree murder (premeditated and felony murder); (2) guilty of first degree murder (premedi-

tated only); (3) guilty of first degree murder (felony murder only); (4) lesser degree homicides, and (5) not guilty. The jury returned a verdict finding Delgado guilty of first degree murder (felony murder only), as well as finding him guilty on the other three counts (8/1442-45; 42/3517-18).

In the penalty phase of the jury trial, the state presented victim impact testimony from the Tampa police chief and from Corporal Roberts' wife and sister-in-law (43/3453-68). The defense recalled Delgado's ex-wife (the mother of his two older children) and a former girlfriend (the mother of his youngest child), who had earlier testified in the guilt phase about the events leading up to his prior psychiatric hospitalizations in the Virgin Islands and Fort Bragg (43/3602-17, 3658-71; see 36/2593-2611, 2720-38). The defense also called four psychiatric or psychological experts, two of whom (Drs. Barbara Stein and Donald Taylor) had testified for the state in the quilt phase. All four doctors (Harry Krop and Mark Ruiz as well as Stein and Taylor) diagnosed Delgado with severe and chronic mental illness, exacerbated in August 2009 by major life stressors (homelessness, rejection by family members, physical pain, and the effects of a long miserable daylong trek from Oldsmar to Tampa on August 19 which culminated in his encounter with Corporal Roberts). Drs. Stein, Krop, and Ruiz concluded that Delgado was under extreme mental or emotional disturbance at the time of the shooting, and that his capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or conform his conduct to the requirements of law was substantially impaired (43/3577-84, 3632-42, 3690-92, 3697-3701). Dr. Taylor

found that Delgado was under extreme emotional disturbance, and that his capacity to conform his conduct was impaired, although he was capable of appreciating the criminality of his conduct (43/2619-22). The experts agreed (as Dr. Stein phrased it) that Delgado "is not an individual who in any way has an antisocial or sociopathic or psychopathic personality" (43/3585), based in part on the fact that he has no history of criminal behavior or violence. See 43/3624 (Dr. Taylor); 43/3635, 3642-43 (Dr. Krop); 43/3693-95 (Dr. Ruiz).

The jury, by a vote of 8-4, recommended a death sentence (8/1450; 44/3760). In the January 13, 2012 Spencer hearing the defense again presented Drs. Stein, Taylor, Krop, Ruiz, and Maher, while the state called Dr. Myers (who had testified for the state in the guilt phase but did not testify in the jury penalty phase). Dr. Myers did not dispute that Delgado had a major mental illness and had experienced extreme emotional disturbance in previous years, but was of the opinion that he did not have the "symptoms of an extreme emotional or mental disturbance in the period surrounding the time of this crime" (45/3807-09).

On February 10, 2012, Judge Battles imposed the death penalty on Delgado for the murder conviction, along with concurrent fifteen, five, and five year sentences on the noncapital counts (9/1631-67; 46/3910-12). As aggravating factors the judge found (1) the victim of the capital felony was a law enforcement officer engaged in the performance of his official duties (great weight) and (2) the contemporaneous conviction of a felony involving the use or threat of violence (the aggravated assault on Sergeant

Mumford) (moderate weight) (9/1632-33). Judge Battles stated, "None of the other statutorily enumerated aggravating circumstances apply in this case and . . . [n] othing other than what is reflected in paragraphs 1 and 2 above was considered in aggravation" (9/1633). In addressing statutory mitigating circumstances the judge found (1) Delgado has no significant history of prior criminal activity (considerable weight); (2) the capital felony was committed while Delgado was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance (substantial weight); and (3) Delgado's capacity to conform his conduct to the requirements of law was impaired (moderate weight) (9/1633-41). Delgado's "longstanding severe psychiatric illness that was most likely genetic and outside of his control" was found as a nonstatutory mitigating factor and was given weight consistent with the court's findings regarding the statutory mitigators relating to his mental condition at the time of the crime (9/1649). Another nonstatutory mitigating circumstance was discussed by the trial court in the sentencing order as follows:

Dr. Stein, Dr. Taylor, Dr. Ruiz, Dr. Krop and Dr. Maher agreed that the Defendant's severe mental illness was exacerbated by numerous acute psychosocial or life stressors, which included the following: the Defendant was homeless for about a week before the instant offense; the Defendant was unemployed; his girlfriend and mother of his youngest son had recently terminated their relationship and asked him to leave because of his mental illness; his uncle also asked the Defendant to leave his home because of the Defendant's mental illness; the Defendant had been living on the streets and in his storage facility; he had little sleep and had not been eating well; the Defendant was not receiving the assistance and support he was expecting from the Veteran's Administration; and the Defendant, who also suffered from chronic knee pain, had just walked 15 miles from Oldsmar to Tampa over several hours on a very hot summer day.

The court found that this mitigating circumstance was established by the evidence, and he accorded it substantial weight consistent with his determination regarding extreme mental or emotional disturbance (9/1646).

Additionally, the court found, but gave little weight to, the statutory age mitigator and numerous other nonstatutory mitigators (9/1642-49).

In explaining his decision to follow the jury's recommendation of death, Judge Battles stated in his sentencing order:

The Court recognizes that the Supreme Court of Florida will conduct a proportionality review of the sentence in this case. See <u>State v. Dixon</u>, 283 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1973). This Court is also mindful of its role and responsibility in rendering a decision in cases where the imposition of the death penalty is at issue. It is well settled that a jury's advisory opinion is entitled to great weight reflecting as it does, the conscience of the community, and should not be overturned unless no reasonable basis exists for the opinion. [Citing in a footnote Richardson v. State, 437 So.3d 1091 (Fla. 1983); McCampbell v. State, 421 So.2d 1072 (Fla. 1982); and Grossman v. State, 525 So.2d 833, 839 n.1 (Fla. 1988)]. This Court's review of other reported capital cases has led the Court to conclude that the death penalty is not disproportionate.

(9/1650) (emphasis supplied).

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

# A. Trial - State's Case in Chief

At 9:58 p.m. on August 19, 2009, a Tampa police dispatcher received a brief snippet of radio transmission from Corporal Michael Roberts, from the intersection of Nebraska and Arctic in the Sulphur Springs area of Tampa. She immediately started trying to resume contact with him. Receiving no response she sent

officers to check on him (30/1919-31). She subsequently received a transmission that an officer was down, and rescue units, air service, and canine were needed. The suspect was described by Sergeant Paul Mumford as an elderly black male in his 40s or 50s, who ran west or northwest across the park to Yukon. Sergeant Mumford stated "I think he's 10-0" (meaning armed) (30/1912-13, 1916, 1929-30; 31/1979).

After this information was broadcast, a large number of Tampa police officers converged on the scene (30/1868-70, 1905-06, 1936-40; 31/1973-80, 1989-91, 2000-02, 2015-17, 2031-36, 2044-45, 2049-51, 2058-60, 2062-63; 32/2204-06; 33/2230-31, 2236-39, 2263-65, 2285-86). Corporal Roberts was lying on the ground motionless. CPR was performed (30/1876-78, 1941-44; 31/1981-88, 1991, 2001-02, 2045-48, 2060; 32/2206; 33/2239). Roberts' TASER and a spent TASER cartridge were on the ground nearby (33/2239-42; 34/2377-84). In the vicinity was a shopping cart with a walking cane leaning against it. There was a laptop computer in the cart (30/1870, 1875, 1940; 31/1980, 2034-35, 2041; 34/2361, 2401-02; 35/2537-38). On the ground was an ID card from the Department of Veterans' Affairs in the name of Humberto Delgado, Jr., and a green wallet containing items of identification belonging to Humberto Delgado, Jr. (31/2035-38, 2042; 34/2361-62, 2380-81). The wallet also contained, among other things, several receipts for firearms purchased by Delgado in North Carolina between November 2006 and April 2008 (31/2036-43; 34/2362) and a folded-up piece of paper with writing on it which read:

A message of promise to this evil world, filled with

liars and cheaters and monkey cheetahs. I am who I am. A living man who was betrayed and who knows that he is always being betrayed for bullshit. But since I do not like bullshit the Living GOD and eye have designed a punishment that is so great 4 U MONKEY CHEETAHS. That you will understand who is, who is, A LIVING GOD. DON"T worry for me anymore because of your zips and socials your SOULS, soulS, souls, souls are lost to be MINED. So as (I am) priceless and free so will all mines be. All who stand against this Ay Ay will understand what it means to dye.

In loving memory I meditate you. As Pacheco as can be, as Humberto Delgado Jr. and all his children can be, as Tito can be, as those I love can be, as Abel can be, as the third Adam can be, as Wahman can be, as this whole world can be. Love you GOD for ever and ever, Amen.

> 777 8

#### (10/1744; see 35/2536; 41/3379-81; 42/3431)

A radio BOLO was put out stating that Delgado had purchased four firearms including an assault rifle (mistakenly indicating that the weapons had been acquired within the last week or two) (31/2021, 2037-41; 33/2265, 2272-73; 35/2533-35).

Sergeant Paul Mumford was patrol supervisor for the evening shift in the north end of Tampa. Corporal Roberts was a member of his squad. After hearing the sound of a scuffle on his radio, Mumford was travelling north on Nebraska when he heard a single gunshot (which was not unusual for Sulphur Springs) (30/1854-68). As he reached the intersection of Nebraska and Arctic, his attention was drawn to a disheveled, homeless-looking man (Delgado) who was holding a bag in his hand. Mumford saw Corporal Roberts lying face-up on the ground with his arms to his side. A shopping cart was within five feet of Roberts' vehicle. The homeless-looking man was jogging at a slow pace; Mumford initially thought he was going to help Roberts but then realized he was a possible suspect

(30/1870-79).

Mumford began chasing the man west on Arctic and loudly ordered him to stop. Near a dumpster, Mumford saw him digging into the bag at his side (described as a canvas bag, like a gym bag) and he pulled out a firearm and - - from a distance of 25-30 feet - - pointed it.at him. Mumford feared for his life at that point. He crouched down in back of the dumpster, crept around the corner of a white building, and drew his service weapon. According to Mumford, the "whole thing took a matter of seconds" (30/ 1879-82, 1887-90, 1913). [When interviewed by detectives on the night of the incident, Mumford told them he had drawn his own weapon when he first exited his vehicle, but at trial he said he didn't draw his weapon until after Delgado pointed a firearm at him, when he moved from the dumpster to the wall; "If I had drawn my weapon when I exited my vehicle I would have shot him" (30/1911-14)].

Mumford next "observed the suspect running into the dark. Asked if he still had anything in his hands, Mumford said "He still had a weapon in his hand at that point, yes." Mumford assumed he was heading to the park. Mumford went back to where Corporal Roberts was, and waited for back-up. The suspect was apprehended ten or fifteen minutes later behind a residence at 812 East Yukon (30/1890-95). Mumford identified Delgado on the night of his arrest - - and in court at trial - - as the person he had seen running from the vicinity of Corporal Roberts' vehicle, and as the person who pointed a gun at him (30/1895-96).

On cross, Sergeant Mumford acknowledged that as the suspect

was running away he [Mumford] went on his radio to inform dispatch and other police officers of the suspect's direction of travel, and he stated "I think he's 10-0" (armed). Mumford did not tell the dispatcher that the suspect had pointed a gun at him. Asked why he said "I think he's 10-0", Mumford explained "[0]nce he left my sight, I didn't know whether he was still armed or not" (30/1912-13, 31/1979; see defense closing argument at 41/3349-51).

A portion of Sergeant Mumford's testimony was corroborated by Officer Calhoun (who saw Mumford in his peripheral vision next to a building; "I believe he had his gun in a low raised position, but I wasn't sure what he was doing at the time") and Officer Anderson (who saw Mumford next to the white wall on the west side of Nebraska with his firearm drawn) (30/1941; 31/2045-46). Neither of these officers indicated that they saw the suspect.

Numerous police officers chased Delgado through the park until he was found (within 10-15 minutes) in the backyard of the residence at 812 East Yukon, where the officers (met with more or less passive resistance) pulled him from underneath a woodpile (30/1893-94; 31/1991-98, 2002-05, 2009-10, 2017-20, 2051-53, 2064; 32/2207-14; 33/2231-32, 2249-52, 2266-68, 2286-87). Many of the officers present heard spontaneous statements by Delgado to the effect of "I'm sorry. I'm sorry. God, I'm sorry (31/1997); "I'm sorry, I didn't mean to do it. I'm a police officer" (kept saying that over and over)(31/2005); "I'm sorry. I'm crazy. I'm one of you guys. Please don't hurt me" (31/2053; see 32/2216; 33/2234); "I'm sorry. He hit me with a stun gun, so I shot him" (33/2254); that he had been in the military and was a police officer in the

Virgin Islands and he just reacted to the TASER (33/2234, 2289; see 31/2028). A TASER prong and wire were tangled in his dreadlocked hair, although not embedded in the skin (31/2028; 32/2091-92; 33/2223, 2254, 2272, 2289-91, 2302-04, 2307-09).

[Sergeant Eric Diaz is a graduate of TASER International's training academy, and he in turn instructs Tampa police officers in the use of the device. A TASER delivers 50,000 volts. First and foremost, according to Diaz, the TASER intimidates people because they are afraid of the electric shock. When the probes interact with the body "it just causes so much confusion inside the body, it causes these major muscle contractions"; the muscles lock up and it incapacitates the person for a short amount of time, causing him or her to be knocked to the ground. However, both probes have to come in contact to cause that; "if one probe and one wire is in contact, it can cause some effect; but it's not going to create an NMI (neuromuscle incapacitation]. It's going to be a different type of response or different type of pain." Similarly, according to Diaz, some clothing or jackets or thick hair will keep the probe far enough away that it won't cause incapacitation. In his experience (contrary to TASER International's position) the TASER probe needs to make direct contact with the skin or it will not be as effective (34/2412-29). Diaz helped create the Tampa Police Department's Standard Operating Procedures regarding the use of TASERs; one of the things an officer should consider before using a TASER is whether the person is mentally ill (assuming the officer is aware of the person's mental health problems) (34/2418, 2426)].

After Delgado was placed in a police car at the scene of the arrest, Detective Houston tried to speak with him, but he was crying and mumbling incoherently. "He was just kind of babbling. I couldn't understand him" (34/2400).

Three loaded firearms were seized from Delgado at the scene of the arrest, and a fourth was recovered from his backpack (which was located on Arctic 150 feet west of Nebraska). These were a Taurus .45 caliber semiautomatic removed from his left front pocket; a small snubnose revolver from the same pocket, a Kel-Tec assault rifle lying by his feet, and a Glock semi-automatic from the backpack (31/2005-07, 2021-26, 2053-55, 2065-73; 32/2094-96, 2214; 33/2234, 2251-53, 2256, 2261-73, 2287-88, 2293-95; 34/2411-12). [The .45 caliber bullet which killed Corporal Roberts was fired from the Taurus .45 caliber handgun (33/2328, 2333). Α partial DNA profile of a biological substance obtained from the interior frame of that weapon matched Corporal Roberts' DNA profile (35/2506-07; 7/1384-86)]. Also recovered at the scene of the arrest were Corporal Roberts' portable radio (30/1858-59, 1909; 31/2011-12; 32/2216-17; 33/2278-82; 34/2374), and Delgado's cell phone showing the last two calls were made to his uncle's residence phone at 10:06 and 10:07 p.m. (32/2088-90; 33/2296-99).

The uncle, Zolio Velasquez, testified that Delgado called him and told him what happened. He was going down Nebraska with a shopping cart and an officer told him to stop, and tased him. There was a scuffle; he fired a shot and he thinks the cop died. Delgado told his uncle he was going to shoot himself. He uncle told him not to do that, to think about his family (33/2296-99).

After he was brought to the Orient Road jail, Delgado made a series of statements (not in response to interrogation) to detention deputies. On the afternoon of the arrest, Deputy Hunt was wearing a black band over his badge. Delgado asked him what it meant, and Hunt said it represented that an officer was killed. Delqado said he knew he was fucked if the officer was dead. He was crying, and said he had been a police officer in St. Croix for five years. Then he told Hunt how the incident had played out. During the stop the officer was going through the shopping cart; he pulled out a computer and said "What is this?" in a tone like it didn't belong to Delgado. Delgado said it was his, and he started to turn and run. The officer said "Stop" and Delgado stopped, but by that time the officer had found a gun in the shopping cart. Delgado began running again and the officer shot him in the back of the neck with a TASER. Delgado thought he blacked out for a minute, and when he woke up the officer was on the ground. He didn't remember shooting him but that must have been what happened. He thought "if he's dead, I'm fucked", so he checked the officer and ran. It was just one bad choice after another (34/2430-38).

Deputy Etheridge testified that on August 25 Delgado made statements that "He deserved it. It was self-defense. He shouldn't have went through my shit." Delgado explained that the officer found a computer and asked where did he steal it from. He was scared and he ran when the officer discovered the guns in the shopping cart. "I think I shot him after he tased me on my neck. I blacked out." Delgado was pacing around the cell talking and

mumbling to himself, and at one point he said "I wish I could wake up from this dream and say, wow, what a dream." At another point he said this never would have happened if his ex-girlfriend hadn't kicked him out of the house in North Carolina. His uncle had only let him stay with him for three months and then he became homeless - - sleeping on the streets and in public bathrooms - - and his ex-girlfriend wouldn't take him back (34/2451-61).

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