IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

HUMBERTO DELGADO, JR.,

Appellant,

v.

Case No. SC12-579 Lower Tribunal No. 09-CF-14276

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE THIRTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROL M. DITTMAR SENIOR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 0503843 Concourse Center 4 3507 East Frontage Road, Suite 200 Tampa, Florida 33607-7013 Telephone: (813) 287-7910 Facsimile: (813) 281-5501 capapp@myfloridalegal.com [and] carol.dittmar@myfloridalegal.com

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Delgado offers no basis to disturb his convictions or sentences. The first and third issues he offers were not preserved for appellate review, since Delgado did not present the same arguments to the court below. Both issues are also without merit. The sentencing order reflects that Judge Battles applied the proper legal standard and independently determined that the aggravating factors outweighed the mitigating factors, compelling imposition of the death penalty. The use of the "victim was a law enforcement officer" aggravating factor was constitutionally appropriate; the factor narrows the class of defendants convicted of first degree murder eligible for the death penalty. This Court and the United States Supreme Court have previously rejected the argument that the factual predicate to support felony murder cannot be used to find an aggravating circumstance. Any possible concern about using the same factual basis in this case to find Delgado eligible for a death sentence is alleviated by the fact that a second aggravating factor also applied, which independently rendered Delgado eligible for death.

Delgado's proportionality argument also fails. The deliberate killing of a law enforcement officer is an egregious crime which is deserving of the ultimate penalty in the absence

of compelling mitigation. Because Delgado's mental health problems were not a significant factor in the killing of Corporal Roberts, and Delgado committed a second serious offense against Sgt. Mumford, this case is factually comparable to others where the death sentence has been imposed and upheld. The facts of Roberts' murder are not the least aggravated or the most mitigated. The death penalty was carefully considered, recommended, and imposed below, and a review of similar cases confirms the proportionality of Delgado's death sentence.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE TRIAL COURT APPLIED THE CORRECT LEGAL STANDARD IN IMPOSING THE DEATH SENTENCE.

Delgado initially challenges the legal standard applied by Judge Battles in imposing his death sentence. Specifically, Delgado disputes a comment in the sentencing order, noting that a jury recommendation is entitled to great weight, and should not be overturned unless no reasonable basis exists to support it (V9/1650). According to Delgado, this standard, from <u>Tedder</u> <u>v. State</u>, 322 So. 2d 908 (Fla. 1975), only applies to life recommendations, and the standard for death recommendations is "entirely different" (Initial Brief, p. 65). Curiously, Delgado does not identify or describe the proper standard upon receipt of a death recommendation. This is a purely legal issue, so review is *de novo*. <u>State v. Sturdivant</u>, 94 So. 3d 434, 439 (Fla. 2012). As will be seen, the trial court's order does not reflect any error in imposition of the death sentence in this case.

It must be noted initially that any possible error with regard to the reference to the <u>Tedder</u> standard in the sentencing order was invited by the defense. Delgado's sentencing memorandum included a section called "The Trial Judge as Gatekeeper: Proportionality Review," which cited the same legal principles he is now challenging (V8/1513). The memorandum went

on to note that the application of the <u>Tedder</u> standard to death recommendations was "not entirely clear," but that the court was still required to weigh the recommendation, and that this Court had noted (in dicta) in <u>Grossman v. State</u>, 525 So. 2d 833, 839 n.1 (Fla. 1988), that a death recommendation was entitled to great weight (V8/1513). Accordingly, Delgado has no basis to complain about this language, directly from his sentencing memorandum, being included in the sentencing order. This argument is not only unpreserved for appellate review, <u>see Orme v. State</u>, 25 So. 3d 536, 553-54 (Fla. 2009) (Canady, J., concurring), any possible error was expressly invited. <u>Terry v.</u> <u>State</u>, 668 So. 2d 954, 962 (Fla. 1996) ("A party may not invite error and then be heard to complain of that error on appeal").

Moreover, although Delgado now claims that the proper standard is "different," as noted above he does not identify or describe any analysis that should have been conducted below that was not. In fact, the analysis required following a death recommendation is the independent weighing of the aggravating and mitigating circumstances. <u>Keen v. State</u>, 775 So. 2d 263, 283 (Fla. 2000). A review of the very thorough sentencing order filed below reflects that Judge Battles carefully considered all of the relevant circumstances and independently analyzed whether the aggravating factors outweighed the mitigation (V9/1632-50).

The comment about the <u>Tedder</u> standard, which simply repeated the language from Delgado's sentencing memorandum, was included in a section titled "Proportionality," an assessment which the trial court is not even required to make (V9/1650).

The cases cited by Delgado do not compel any finding of several cases where, following error. He notes а jury recommendation of life, the trial courts improperly mixed the standards by conducting an independent weighing of the aggravating and mitigating circumstances and then determining whether any reasonable basis supported the recommendation. Such error can be harmful when there is mitigation in the record which provides a reasonable basis for the recommendation, and harmless if no such mitigation exists. Washington v. State, 907 So. 2d 512, 513 (Fla. 2005); Keen, 775 So. 2d at 283. In the instant case, the defense requested the trial judge to override the jury death recommendation, and discussed a number of cases where trial courts have imposed life sentences despite jury recommendations for death (V8/1513-20). Although this extra analysis may not be required by statute or case law, it certainly does not create legal error for a trial judge to consider, and respond to, an argument which the defense has presented.

Delqado also asserts that similar errors occurred in White v. State, 616 So. 2d 21 (Fla. 1993), and Smith v. State, 866 So. 2d 51 (Fla. 2004). In White, the trial court expressly stated that it was "bound" by the Tedder standard to follow the jury's reasonable death recommendation, and urged this Court to recede from Tedder and to unequivocally hold that any death sentence, the jury recommendation, is clothed with a regardless of presumption of correctness. Similarly, in Smith, the court's comments reflect that the court considered itself "required" to impose a death sentence, whereas this Court has recognized that does not prevent a trial judge from exercising the law reasonable judgment and imposing a life sentence, even when the facts may warrant the death penalty. To the contrary, in the instant case, there is no language from the sentencing order which is inconsistent with any legal holding from this Court.

There is no indication that the court below was confused or misapprehended the proper analysis before imposing a death sentence, as in <u>White</u> and <u>Smith</u>. The court below did not expressly consider whether there was a reasonable basis for the death recommendation, or suggest that this Court should reconsider its jurisprudence in this area, or indicate that it was "bound" by the recommendation or "required" to impose a death sentence. Rather, Delgado is troubled by the court's

reference to giving the recommendation great weight, a standard taken directly from Delgado's sentencing memorandum and supported by this Court's case law. <u>See Grossman</u>, 525 So. 2d at 839 n.1 ("We have also held that a jury recommendation of death should be given great weight"). Even if some impropriety could be discerned based on the court's use of the disputed language, it would be harmless beyond any reasonable doubt, given the court's careful analysis of the aggravating and mitigating factors and independent weighing of the relevant circumstances. Accordingly, this Court must deny this claim and affirm the sentence of death imposed on Humberto Delgado.

ISSUE II

DELGADO'S DEATH SENTENCE IS PROPORTIONATE.

Delgado next challenges the proportionality of his death sentence. However, a review of comparable cases establishes that Delgado's sentence should not be reversed as disproportionate.

This Court has emphasized that its proportionality review is qualitative, not quantitative; it is "not a mere numbers game; rather, it is a holistic comparison of the circumstances of the current case with those of prior decisions where the Court has found that the death penalty was a proportionate punishment." Rigterink v. State, 66 So. 3d 866, 899 (Fla. 2011). counting the aqqravatinq and mitigating Rather than circumstances, the Court considers the nature of, and the weight given to, the relevant factors. Serrano v. State, 64 So. 3d 93, 115 (Fla. 2011); Abdool v. State, 53 So. 3d 208, 224 (Fla. 2010) (noting large quantity of mitigation presented, but confirming that the focus is on the quality, not the quantity, of the evidence).

Delgado artfully portrays his case as one involving an emotionally disturbed individual who, after "battling the demons of severe mental illness" all his adult life, accidently shoots a police officer in the midst of a tragic encounter following a long and tiring day. The evidence, however, demonstrates that

this is not a fair portrayal of Corporal Roberts' murder. The court below found that Delgado's mental illness did not play a substantial role in the crime, since the sentencing order expressly finds that Dr. Myers was the most credible witness in providing evidence of the extent to which Delgado was impaired by his bipolar disorder at the time (V9/1640-41). The evidence also established that this was not an accidental, instinctive, or reflexive shooting, but was a deliberate act by an individual motivated by anger over Corporal Roberts' perceived "disrespect" and the fear of being arrested for the guns he was carrying (V9/1640-41; V32/2114; V40/3203, 3211, 3217-18; V45/3828-29).

Judge Battles' findings as to Delgado's mental health are critical to assist the Court in weighing this type of mitigation appropriately. <u>See Brant v. State</u>, 21 So. 3d 1276, 1284-88 (Fla. 2009) (trial court findings critical to assist Court in appropriate weighing of mitigation). The fact that Delgado's brief focuses on the evidence he presented, rather than offering an analysis through the prism of the trial court's findings, is telling. Mental health evidence is far more significant if it can be linked specifically to the criminal behavior involved in the capital murder, and the court below substantially rejected that link by crediting Dr. Myers' testimony. <u>Abdool v. State</u>, 53 So. 3d 208, 225 (Fla. 2010); Gill v. State, 14 So. 3d 946, 965

(Fla. 2009); <u>McWatters v. State</u>, 36 So. 3d 613, 645 (Fla. 2010) (noting mitigation was based entirely on background, and "none of it pertained to the circumstances of the actual murders"); <u>Crook v. State</u>, 813 So. 2d 68 (Fla. 2002) (emphasizing the importance of linking illness and behavior). Although the court below found the "extreme disturbance" statutory mitigator to apply, the evidence to support that mitigator all relied exclusively on Delgado's *history* of having previously been diagnosed with a bipolar-type disorder with psychotic features, which is characterized as an extreme condition which can be treated but not cured (V39/3043-44). Delgado was only considered to be "under" the influence of an extreme disturbance due to the life-long nature of the disease, not due to any specific circumstance related to Roberts' murder.

The trial court also found that, although Delgado had a documented history of a diagnosable mental illness, it did not substantially impair his ability to act in accordance with the law. This finding is consistent with the evidence that Delgado suffered from a bipolar-type illness for approximately six years before the crime, which had been untreated but only resulted in mild symptoms in the four years immediately preceding Roberts' murder (V45/3826). Importantly, the overwhelming evidence demonstrated that throughout the day of the murder, including

before and just after the shooting, Delgado's actions reflect that he was goal-oriented, rational, and free of any psychosis (V39/3123, 3129; V40/3208, 3266-3267). Drs. Stein, Taylor and Myers all agreed that Delgado was not in a psychotic state, and that his claim as to having experienced a blackout was not true (V39/3127; V40/3204-07, 3270). This is also consistent with the observations of mental health professionals at the VA facility only days before the shooting, who recorded no indication of any extreme disturbance or concerns of psychosis (V39/3073-75; V40/3213).

In addition, this Court is not precluded from considering the shooting in considering the deliberate nature of proportionality. Because the analysis is a comparison of the totality of the circumstances with factually similar crimes and criminals, the Court can take facts beyond the stated sentencing factors into account. See Gill, 14 So. 3d at 956 (noting that although the trial court based its finding of the prior violent felony aggravator only on the prior capital felony conviction involving the Beverly Moore murder, there was evidence of five other prior violent felony convictions, including attempted murder); Sliney v. State, 699 So. 2d 662, 672 (Fla. 1997) (noting brutality of attack in upholding proportionality of sentence, despite trial court's failure to find HAC).

Delgado insists that his case did not involve а premeditated murder; the special jury verdict did not confirm premeditation and the trial judge gave "slight" weight to the mitigator that Delgado did not "plan" the offense (V9/1642). However, this Court is not bound by the special jury verdict because the jury was not accurately instructed. The jury was given the option of convicting Delgado of first degree felony and premeditated murder, first degree premeditated murder only, and first degree felony murder only; they were told that the verdict had to be unanimous (V8/1442-45; V42/3467-71). However, there is no requirement of unanimity as to the theory of first degree murder. See Haliburton v. State, 561 So. 2d 248, 250 (Fla. 1990). Because the jury was not properly instructed on this point, this Court should not be bound by the special jury verdict.

Moreover, while the jury was instructed to convict Delgado of the highest "offense" upon which the jury agreed, they were not instructed of any need to consider distinct options within the same offense, so it cannot even be said that the jury necessarily discussed and rejected first degree premeditated murder. Finally, it is clear that this Court could consider the evidence of premeditation if there had been a general verdict returned. Given the purpose and nature of this Court's

proportionality review, it makes no sense to review cases where there is a special jury verdict differently than cases where a general verdict has been returned. In either case, the focus must be consideration of the totality of the circumstances. Otherwise, inconsistency within the context of proportionality review skews the analysis, and jeopardizes the constitutionality and legitimacy of the review.

The trial court's finding that Delgado "did not plan" for Roberts' murder does not negate the deliberate nature of Delgado's actions. Eyewitness Farmer testified that Delgado shot Roberts while Roberts lay helpless and unmoving in the street, having been knocked senseless by Delgado's beating (V32/2112-14). Although Delgado claims that the forensic evidence does not support this testimony, the trajectory of the bullet was subject to varying interpretations, as argued by both sides below (V41/3360-69; V42/3397-98). What cannot be disputed, however, is the fact that Roberts suffered physical injuries consistent with having been beaten about the face and head, and that the bullet was not fired close to entry as if in a struggle, but was fired from at least two or one and a half feet away, yet before Roberts could even draw his own weapon in defense (V32/2172). These undisputed facts fully establish the deliberate nature of

Delgado's actions, and this Court cannot ignore the concrete evidence on this point in assessing proportionality.

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